



SAIL·VOILE CANADA

By-Laws Sail Canada/Voile Canada

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- Section 1 [GENERAL](#)
- Section 2 [MEMBERS](#)
- Section 3 [MEETINGS OF MEMBERS](#)
- Section 4 [BOARD OF DIRECTORS](#)
- Section 5 [OFFICERS](#)
- Section 6 [COMMITTEES](#)
- Section 7 [CONFLICT OF INTEREST](#)
- Section 8 [FINANCE](#)
- Section 9 [AMENDMENT OF BY-LAWS](#)
- Section 10 [FUNDAMENTAL CHANGES](#)
- Section 11 [NOTICE](#)
- Section 12 [INDEMNIFICATION](#)
- Section 13 [EFFECTIVE DATE](#)

BE IT ENACTED as by-laws of Sail Canada/Voile Canada as follows:

SECTION 1. GENERAL

1.1 These By-laws relate to the general conduct of the affairs of the Sail Canada/Voile Canada, a Canadian Corporation under the Canada Not-for-Profit Corporations Act.

1.2 The following terms have these meanings in these By-laws:

- (a) Act – the Canada Not-for-Profit Corporations Act, S.C. 2009, c.23, including the Regulations made pursuant to the Act, and any statutes or regulations that may be substituted, as amended from time to time;
- (b) Articles – the articles of incorporation attached to the Certificate of Continuance dated March 20, 2014;
- (c) Auditor – a Public Accountant, as defined in the Act, appointed by the Members by Ordinary Resolution at the annual meeting to audit the books, accounts, and records of the Corporation for a report to the Members at the next annual meeting;
- (d) Board – the Board of Directors of the Corporation;
- (e) Canadian Olympic Committee – oversees Canada’s involvement in the in the Olympic, Pan American and Youth Olympic Games;

(f) CEO - Chief Executive Officer employed to manage the business and affairs of the Corporation as set out in these By-laws;

~~(f)(g)~~ Chair – the Chair of the Board, ~~formerly the President of the Board~~

~~(g)(h)~~ Corporation – Sail Canada/Voile Canada;

~~(h)(i)~~ Days – calendar days;

(i) Director – an individual elected or appointed to serve on the Board as set out in these By-laws;

(i) Independent – a person with no fiduciary obligation to any body for sailing at the national or provincial level, receives no direct or indirect material benefit from any such party, and is free of any conflict of interest of a financial, personal or representational nature (provided that participation, in sailing does not alone cause a person not to be independent). A person who would not be considered Independent will be considered to be Independent once they resign from or terminate the circumstance that gives rise to the non-independence.

(k)

~~(j) CEO – Chief Executive Officer employed to manage the business and affairs of the Corporation as set out in these By-laws;~~

~~World Sailing – the international governance body for the sport of sailing; formerly ISAF – International Sailing Federation;~~

~~(k) Meetings of Members – shall include annual meetings and special meetings;~~

(l)

~~(l) Members – those organizations meeting the definition of member as set out in these By-laws, or delegates authorized by each Member to exercise the Member’s vote;~~

(m)

~~(m) Paid Membership of Clubs – the number of members of a club established and certified by the CEO in a membership report issued on September 30 of the current year which is used as the basis for allocating votes as set out in these By-laws;~~

(n)

~~(n) Officer – an individual elected or appointed to serve as an Officer of the Corporation pursuant to these By-laws;~~

(o)

~~(o) Ordinary Resolution – a resolution passed by the majority of votes cast on that resolution;~~

(p)

~~(p) Special Resolution – a resolution passed by a majority of not less than two-thirds of the votes cast on that resolution; and~~

(q)

Commented [KM1]: This Section was updated to add in the definition “Independent” as set out in the Sport Governance Code and which is a requirement for the majority of the Board.

It was cleaned up to ensure it was in alphabetical order (previous name changes e.g. ISAF to World Sailing, President to Chair were not put into their correct alphabetical spot.

Further the reference in the Chair to it being formerly the President was removed since this change was made a while ago.

Sport Canada – the Canadian government department that supports Canadian athletes and national organizations that make up the Canadian sport system;:-

~~CEO – Chief Executive Officer employed to manage the business and affairs of the Corporation as set out in these By-laws;~~

(r)

(s) World Sailing – the international governance body for the sport of sailing; formerly ISAF - International Sailing Federation.

Sail Canada/Voile Canada has as its exclusive purpose and function, to encourage and promote the sport of sailing in all its forms in Canada, including yachting, windsurfing and kiteboarding, and all manner of foiling sailboats, boards, and other wind-powered watercraft, on a nationwide basis on a

1.3 nationwide basis. In furtherance of this purpose and function, the stated purposes of Sail Canada/Voile Canada are:

(q)(a) To serve as the governing body for the sport of sailing in Canada and as such, to represent and protect the interests of Canada and Canadian sailing within World Sailing, the Canadian Olympic Committee and with other national and international bodies;

(r)(b) To establish and promote training and certification standards for sailing, recreational boating and navigation in Canada;

(s)(c) To foster interest and participation in competitive and recreational sailing and those activities common to all forms of boating in Canada;

(t)(d) To oversee and govern the conduct of competitive sailing events held in Canada;

(u)(e) To identify, select and train members of national teams to represent Canada in international sailing competitions;

(v)(f) To assist member Provincial or Territorial organizations in the development of sailing in their respective jurisdictions and to encourage support of sailing by the public generally; and

(w)(g) To receive money and other property by gift, bequest, fees or otherwise, and to apply same in furtherance of these purposes.

1.31.4 The business and the affairs of the Corporation will be carried on without the purpose of gain for its Members and any profits, increases or advantages to the Corporation will be used in promoting its purposes.

1.4

Commented [KM2]: This section was updated to reflect the new directions that water-based wind sports are moving in.

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: No bullets or numbering

SECTION 2. MEMBERS

- 2.1 The Corporation has one class of Members, which are Organizations that represent three groups:
- (a) Sailing or Yacht Clubs – organizations with docking, mooring and/or boat launch and recovery facilities that provide programs, facilities or events to individuals participating in the sport of sailing on a local, regional or national level in Canada;
 - (b) Provincial/Territorial Sailing Associations - associations or federations established to promote the sport of sailing in its respective province/territory of Canada and which is recognized as such by the relevant provincial government; and
 - (c) Special Organizations - any association, federation or organization having an interest in promoting, administering or supporting the sport of sailing, as stated in sub-section 1.3 of the By-laws.
- 2.2 Candidates for Membership in categories specified in section 2.1 shall make application as follows:
- (a) Clubs, as defined in paragraph 2.1(a) shall make application in writing to its relevant provincial or territorial sailing association;
 - (b) In order to be qualified for membership a club must be a member in good standing of its provincial or territorial association; and
 - (c) Organizations as defined in sub-section 2.1(b) and 2.1(c) shall make application in writing to the Board of Directors.
- 2.3 Each Member agrees to abide by the Corporation's By-laws, policies, procedures, rules and regulations, as may be established and amended from time to time.
- 2.4 Membership in the Corporation is terminated when:
- (a) The Member no longer meets the definition of Members set out in sub-section 2.1;
 - (b) The Member fails to pay any dues or fees payable within 30 days of the date that the Secretary, or their designate sends a written demand for payment;
 - (c) The Member resigns from the Corporation by giving written notice to the Secretary in which case the resignation becomes effective on the date specified in the notice, provided that resignation as a Member does not relieve the Member of its obligation to pay any outstanding dues or fees; or
 - (d) The Corporation is liquidated or dissolved under the Act.

Commented [KM3]: Updated to reflect the practicality that the Secretary may not be the person who sends the written demand.

SECTION 3. MEETINGS OF MEMBERS

- 3.1 Meetings of Members will include annual meetings, and special meetings. The Corporation will hold Meetings of Members at such date, time and place as determined by the Board. Such meetings will be conducted according to Roberts Rules of Order, current edition.
- 3.2 The annual meeting will be held within 15 months of the last annual meeting but not later than six (6) months after the end of the Corporation's preceding financial year.
- 3.3 The agenda for an annual meeting, which should be included with the notice of meeting sent to members, should include the following items:
- (a) Consideration of the financial statements;
 - (b) Receipt of report from the public accountant;
 - (c) Appointment of a public accountant (or, in the case of a designated corporation, a resolution of the members to dispense with the appointment of a public accountant);
 - (d) Election of directors; and
 - (e) Other items of business including such matters as general by-law amendments that require confirmation by the members, by-laws of amendment; or other similar changes.
- 3.4 A special meeting of the Members may be called at any time by the Chair or upon the written request of Members holding not less than five percent of the total Members' votes as would be calculated at the time of the request, using the formula in Sub-section 3.10. The agenda of special meetings will be limited to the subject matter for which the meeting was duly called.
- 3.5 A Meeting of Members may be held by means of telephone, electronic or other communication facility that permits all participants to communicate adequately with each other during the meeting, if the Corporation makes available such a communication facility.

3.6 Any Member entitled to vote at a Meeting of Members may participate in the meeting by means of telephone, or an electronic or other communication facility that permits all participants to communicate adequately with each other during the meeting if the corporation makes available such a communication facility. A person so participating in a meeting is deemed to be present at the meeting.

~~3.7~~ Notice for a Meeting of Members will include the time and place of a meeting, the proposed agenda, reasonable information to permit Members to make informed decisions, and will be given to each Member by the following means:

~~3.83.7~~ By mail, courier or personal delivery to each Member entitled to vote at the meeting, at least 30 days before the day on which the meeting is to be held; or

By telephone, electronic or other communication facility to each Member entitled to vote at the meeting, at least 21 days before the day on which the meeting is to be held.

~~3.93.8~~ Persons entitled to be present at a meeting of Members are the delegates authorized by each Member to exercise the Member's vote, other representatives of the Member that the Member consents to being present, the Directors, the Auditor, the World Sailing and Sport Canada liaison, and such other persons who are entitled or required under any provision of the Act to be present at the meeting. At the invitation of the Chair of the meeting, or by Ordinary Resolution of the Members at the Meeting, other person(s) may be admitted to Members' Meetings.

~~3.103.9~~ Quorum for a Meeting of Members will be twenty (20) Members present and entitled to vote. If quorum is met at the start of the meeting, but thereafter Members depart the meeting such that quorum is lost, the meeting is nonetheless a valid meeting and may continue.

~~3.113.10~~ For Member resolutions at Meetings of Members, each Member will be allocated a number of votes as follows:

(a) Clubs, as defined in sub-section 2.1 (a) shall be allocated votes proportional to their paid membership as follows:

- (i) 5 to 100 members 1 vote;
- (ii) 101 to 200 members 2 votes;
- (iii) for each additional 100 members 1 additional vote per 100 members

(b) The number of members of a club shall be established and certified by the CEO from the last membership report issued on September 30 of the current year. Where members' names are not supplied by the Member Organizations, the number of members will be determined by dividing the aggregate of the fees paid by the annual fee payable for one member rounded off to the nearest whole number.

(c) Organizations as defined in sub-section 2.1 (b) and (c) shall each have one vote.

~~3.123.11~~ Members will exercise their vote as a block of votes. Absentee voting will be either by electronic means or by proxy. If by proxy, any Member entitled to vote at an Annual or Special Meeting of the Corporation shall be entitled to appoint, in writing, a proxy holder to attend the meeting on that Member's behalf and to exercise all voting rights. The written proxy may be in a general form or may give specific instructions with respect to the business to come before the meeting. The notice of meeting may prescribe how the proxies will be registered. In any event, the proxy shall be deposited with the Secretary or their designate of the meeting before any vote is cast under the authority of the proxy. Except as otherwise provided in the Act or these By-laws, an Ordinary Resolution will decide each issue. In the case of a tie, the vote is defeated.

Commented [KM4]: Updated to reflect the actual practice of now sending notice electronically versus physically

SECTION 4. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

4.1 The Board of Directors is responsible for managing and supervising the affairs and activities of the Corporation. Except as otherwise provided in the Act or these By-laws, the Board has the powers of the Corporation and may delegate any of its powers, duties and functions. More specifically, the Board will:

- (a) Approve the vision, mission, values and strategic direction of the Corporation;
- (b) Approve policies and procedures to deliver the programs and services of the Corporation;
- (c) Provide continuity for the Corporation by maintaining its financial health, approving budgets and monitoring the performance of the Corporation;
- (d) Engage a CEO to manage and oversee the operations of the Corporation;
- (e) Maintain positive relationships with stakeholders; and

Commented [KM5]: Updated to reflect that proxies are deposited with the Secretary's designate

(f) Perform any other duties from time to time as may be in the best interests of the Corporation.

4.2 The Board will consist of a minimum of five and a maximum of nine Directors, as follows:

~~(a) A Chair, elected in odd years by the Members at the annual meeting to serve a term of two (2) years, to a maximum two (2) two-year terms in succession;~~

~~(b)(a) Six/Seven~~ Directors, elected by the Members at the annual meeting to serve a term of three (3) years, to a maximum two (2) three-year terms in succession (subject to (b) below); and

~~(b) A Chair, who shall be one of the seven Directors, and shall be elected by the Board at the first meeting after the prior Chair's term concludes. The Chair's term will be 2 years regardless of the time remaining of their Director term, and will be up for re-election to the Board as a Director by the Members at the end of their term as Chair. A Chair will be eligible to be re-elected as Chair for a maximum of two 2-year terms.~~

~~Two Athlete Directors, who self-identify as different genders, elected by all currently carded Canadian Sailing Team Athletes to serve for a one-year term, with no limit on the number of terms in succession. The Athlete Directors must be a person currently on a national team, or competing at the international level, or a person who is retired and was a member of a national team or competed at the international level not more than eight years previously. and~~

~~(c) In the case of the Athlete Directors, the member must have been a carded Canadian Sailing Team athlete within the prior ten (10) years.~~

~~(e)(d)~~ Gender equity in the members of the Board is a goal of Sail Canada. Sail Canada recognizes that an individual may identify as a man, a woman, ~~trans or trans~~, non-binary or otherwise. The election process must ensure that there are no more than 4 ~~d~~Directors who self-identify as the same gender, not including the Athlete Directors. Should the number of ~~D~~irectors self-identifying as the same gender surpass 4, only candidates ~~directors~~ who self-identify as a different gender would be eligible for candidacy until this threshold is satisfied.

~~(d)(e)~~ In the event that a sufficient number of candidates who self-identify as different genders have not been nominated or are unwilling to stand for election, the Board shall appoint candidates of different genders as directors and no further ballots shall be taken.

4.3 Any person who is a member in good standing of a member organization and eligible under the Income Tax Act to serve as a director of a registered charity, may be nominated for election or appointment as a Director, more specifically:

- (a) Is 18 years of age or older;
- (b) Has the power under law to contract;
- (c) Who is a resident of Canada;
- (d) Who does not have the status of bankrupt;

~~(e)(a)~~ Who has not been declared incapable by a court in Canada or in another country; ~~and~~

~~(f)(e)~~ ~~In the case of the Athlete Directors, the member must have been a carded Canadian Sailing Team athlete within the prior ten (10) years.~~

4.4 At least 4 of the Directors (including the Athlete Directors) must be Independent. The Chair must also be Independent. The Nominating Committee shall determine whether or not a candidate is Independent.

4.44.5 Any nomination of a person for election as a Director or Chair must include the written consent of the nominee. Nominations must have either the support of at least two (2) voting Members of the Corporation or the approval of the Nominating Committee.

4.54.6 The Nominating Committee will oversee a nominations process as follows:

- (a) On or before May 1st, a call for nominations will be issued that includes the number of positions to be elected and the expertise sought;
- (b) On or before September 1st, the committee will announce the list of nominations received to date, and issue a second call for nominations due by September 10th;
- (c) On or before September 30th, the committee will announce the list of nominations received to date, accompanied by a brief biography of each candidate;

Commented [KM6]: The Sport Governance Code requires that the Chair of the Board shall be elected by members of the Board and not Members of the Corporation. The amendments to this section attempted to keep as much of the bylaws status quo as possible while reflecting the requirements of the Sport Governance Code.

The change to the requirements for Athlete Directors to reduce the number of years post international competition they are eligible for, but expanding the number of potential candidates is as per the Sport Governance Code.

The addition to add in "or otherwise" in the gender equity section recognizes that there are many gender identities that a candidate may identify as, and not just the ones specifically denoted. This was raised during the last bylaw ratification process.

Commented [KM7]: The requirement for the majority of the Board and for the Chair themselves to be Independent, is a requirement of the Sport Governance Code.

Commented [KM8]: Update reflects the importance of the Nominating Committee as set out in the Sport Governance Code. It further reflects values raised at last year's AGM gathering for inclusivity across all levels of the sailing in Canada and requiring support of 2 voting members may limit nominations to the Board.

(d) The list of candidates must include all nominations received for each position and may include more than one person for each position; and

(e) Announcements will be sent by electronic means on or before the dates in 4.5 a), b), c) and will be posted prominently on the Sail Canada/Voile Canada website by 12 noon the following business day.

~~4.7 In the event that there are the same number of or less nominees meeting the required criteria as there are positions, a vote of confidence for those nominees will be required for them to be elected to the Board, requiring at least 50% of Members in attendance to confirm their election to the Board.~~

~~4.64.8~~ If the president, chair or a director of a provincial/territorial sailing association or federation ~~or a member of a Sail Canada/Voile Canada operations committee~~ is elected to the Board, they shall resign from their present position immediately after their election. Failure to do so will nullify their election to the Corporation's Board.

~~4.7 With the exception of the Athlete Directors, a Directors' terms of office will be staggered such that at least two Directors will be elected in even-numbered years, and at least two Directors will be elected in odd-numbered years.~~

~~4.84.9~~ The term of a Director shall begin effective with the adjournment of the annual meeting in which they is elected. A retiring Director shall remain in office until the dissolution or adjournment of the meeting at which their retirement is accepted and their successor is elected.

~~4.94.10~~ A Director may resign from the Board at any time by presenting their notice of resignation to the Board. This resignation will become effective at the time the notice is sent, or at the time specified in the notice, whichever is later.

~~4.104.11~~ The office of a Director will be vacated automatically if the Director:

- (a) Fails to maintain the qualifications specified in sub-section 4.3;
- (b) Is charged with any criminal offense related to the position of Director;
- (c) Misses more than three consecutive Board meetings; or
- (d) Dies.

~~4.114.12~~ A Director may be removed by Ordinary Resolution of the Members at a Meeting of Members, provided the Director has been given written notice of and the opportunity to be heard at such a meeting. If the Director is removed and holds a position as an Officer, the Director will automatically and simultaneously be removed from the position as an Officer.

~~4.124.13~~ Where the position of a Director becomes vacant for whatever reason, the Board may appoint a person who satisfies the qualifications of sub-section 4.3, to fill the vacancy for the remainder of the Director's term.

~~4.134.14~~ The Chair or any three Directors may call a meeting of the Board.

~~4.144.15~~ Notice of meetings of the Board will be given to all Directors at least 14 days prior to the scheduled meeting. No notice of a meeting of the Board is required if all Directors waive notice, or if those Directors who are absent consent to the meeting being held in their absence.

~~4.154.16~~ Notice of board meetings need not specify the purpose of or the business to be transacted at the meeting unless the meeting:

- (a) Involves a matter that requires member approval;
- (b) Fills the vacancy of a director or public accountant;
- (c) Appoints additional directors;
- (d) Issues debt obligations;
- (e) Approves financial statements;
- (f) Adopts, amends or repeals by-laws; or
- (g) Establishes members' contributions or dues.

~~4.164.17~~ At any meeting of the Board, quorum will be a majority of Directors holding office.

~~4.174.18~~ A meeting of the Board may be held by means of telephone, electronic or other communication facility that permits all participants to communicate adequately with each other during the meeting, if the Corporation makes available such a communication facility.

Commented [KM9]: The bylaws were previously silent as to what was to occur when there were the same number of nominations or less, than the open positions. The Board felt it was important that there still be a vote of confidence for someone to become a member of the Board instead of having someone acclaimed/.

Commented [KM10]: Updates wording to reflect that a PSA/TSA may have a chair instead of a president. Also reflects that there may be times where a Board member is required or would be of assistance on an operational or advisory committee (e.g. the IDE, the Olympic Selection Committee, Business Development Advisory Committee etc.). Given the updated Code of Conduct and Conflict of Interest policies, the Board is confident that any potential conflicts that may arise in these circumstances can be adequately addressed.

Commented [KM11]: Removed to reflect the new election process set out earlier in the bylaws.

SECTION 5. OFFICERS

- 5.1 The officers of the Corporation are the Chair, Treasurer, Secretary and CEO.
- 5.2 After each annual meeting, the Board will appoint a Treasurer and a Secretary, who need not be an elected Director.
- 5.3 The Chair will be responsible for the general supervision of the affairs of the Corporation, more specifically:
- Preside at meetings of Members and at meetings of the Board;
 - Be responsible for the operation of the Board;
 - Be the official spokesperson of the Corporation on matters related to Board governance and oversight.;
 - Be an ex-officio, non-voting member of all Board committees except the Nominating Committee, and monitor the performance of all Board committees;
 - Ensure that the Directors are aware of all policy guidelines of the Corporation and of the decisions of committees; and
 - Perform such other duties as may from time to time be established by the Board.
- 5.4 The Secretary will be responsible for the administrative affairs of the Corporation, more specifically:
- Facilitate an effective flow of information to and from the Board by coordinating, preparing and disseminating board documents, agendas, information packages and management reports that board members need in order to prepare for meetings;
 - Plan, give notice and attend all Board and Members' Meetings, record discussions and decisions and ensure that minutes of board discussions and decisions are distributed and retained;
 - Ensure that legislation, rules and regulations are complied with, including disclosure requirements;
 - Review and maintain by-laws, by-laws and related corporate documents;
 - Certify all documents which require certification; and
 - Perform other such duties as may from time to time be established by the Board.
- 5.5 The Board may appoint one or more Assistant Secretaries to carry out any of the day-to-day corporate responsibilities of the Secretary under the general supervision of the Secretary.
- 5.6 The Treasurer will oversee the financial affairs of the Corporation, more specifically:
- Ensure the establishment of sound financial policies and practices that will lead to the long term financial sustainability of the Association;
 - See that proper accounting records as required by the Act are maintained;
 - Ensure all monies received by the Corporations are deposited in Corporation bank accounts;
 - Provide the Board with an account of the financial position of the Corporation; and
 - Perform other such duties as may from time to time be established by the Board.
- 5.7 The CEO will be responsible for the management and supervision of the operations of the Corporation, and other duties assigned by the Board of Directors.
- The CEO is responsible for directing the organization's operational activities in alignment with the organization's current Strategic Plan;
 - The CEO is responsible to monitor, and report to the Board, the performance of the operations committees; and
 - The CEO will be the official spokesperson of the Corporation, with the exception of matters related to Board governance and oversight.

SECTION 6. COMMITTEES

- 6.1 The Board may constitute such committees that are deemed necessary for managing the affairs of the Corporation, and may delegate to such committees any of its power, duties and functions except where prohibited by the Act or these By-laws. The Board will establish written terms of reference for all committees and post these on the Corporation's website. ;
- 6.2 The Board will at all times have an Audit Committee, a Finance Committee, a Governance and Ethics Committee, a Nominating Committee, and a Provincial Council. The Board may, from time to time,

Commented [KM12]: The Sport Governance Code requires the Terms of Reference to be on the organization's website.

establish such additional committees as it deems appropriate and delegate to them such authority permitted by applicable law as the Board sees fit.

6.3 The Nominating Committee shall have a minimum of three members and shall have an odd number of members and must not include any Director up for election and shall include appropriate representation from the board including independent directors, athletes and other stakeholders with the objective that the committee is respected, credible and representative.

6.4 The Provincial Council will consist of presidents of each provincial/territorial sailing association or their nominees, and will be responsible for alerting and advising the Board on national issues or concerns that could affect the long-term success of Sail Canada/Voile Canada as the national authority for sport of sailing in all its forms in Canada, including yachting, windsurfing and kiteboarding and all manner of foiling sailboats, boards, and other wind-powered watercraft.;

6.5 With the approval of the Board, the CEO will establish operations committees to assist in managing the operations of the Corporation.

~~6.1~~

~~The Board will establish the following Board committees to address and make recommendations on strategic direction, governance or organizational issues:~~

~~The Provincial Council will consist of presidents of each provincial/territorial sailing association or their nominees, and will be responsible for alerting and advising the Board on national issues or concerns that could affect the long-term success of Sail Canada/Voile Canada as the national authority for sport of sailing in all its forms in Canada, including yachting;~~

~~The Nominating Committee will consist of no less than three persons including the Past Chair and representatives of the Board and operations committees, and will be responsible for overseeing the nominating process described in By-law 4; and~~

~~The Audit Committee will consist of no less than three persons plus the Chair of Sail Canada who shall be an ex-officio, non-voting member, and is responsible for the annual financial review, liaison between the auditor and Corporation's CEO, evaluation of accounting policies, practices and assessing financial risk.~~

~~With the approval of the Board, the CEO will establish operations committees to assist in managing the operations of the Corporation.~~

Commented [KM13]: This section was updated to:
1) change the Governance Committee's name to ensure it was a Governance and Ethics Committee as set out by the Sport Governance Code;
2) Update the requirements of the makeup of the Nominating Committee as set out in the Sport Governance Code;
3) Include the Finance Committee as a permanent committee as it had not been included in prior bylaw versions;
4) Update the types of sailing listed under the Provincial Council section

SECTION 7. CONFLICT OF INTEREST

- 7.1 According to the Act, a Director, Officer, or member of a Committee who has an interest, or may be perceived as having an interest, in a proposed contract or transaction with the Corporation will comply with the Act and the Corporation's Conflict of Interest Policy:
- (a) Disclose fully and promptly the nature and extent of such interest to the Board or Committee, as the case may be;
 - (b) Refrain from voting or speaking in debate on such contract or transaction;
 - (c) Refrain from influencing the decision on such contract or transaction; and
 - (d) Otherwise comply with the Act regarding conflict of interest.

SECTION 8. FINANCE

- 8.1 The fiscal year of the Corporation will be May 1 to April 30, or such other period as the Board may from time to time determine.
- 8.2 Subject to any unanimous member agreement, the Board may require members to make an annual contribution or pay annual dues and may determine the manner in which the contribution is to be made or the dues are to be paid.
- 8.3 The Corporation will send to the Members a copy of the annual financial statements at least 21 days before the annual meeting.
- 8.4 All necessary books and records of the Corporation required by these By-laws or by applicable law will be regularly and properly kept. Minutes from meetings of the Board and records of the Corporation will be available to the Board, each of whom will receive a copy of such minutes. All other books and records will be available for viewing at the Registered Office of the Corporation in accordance with the Act.
- 8.5 Any two Officers will have authority to sign for and on behalf of the Corporation all instruments and contracts. The Board may establish different signing authorities for cheques and other banking documents as appropriate. From time to time the Board may, by resolution, appoint a Director or Officer to sign a specific instrument or contract on behalf of the Corporation without any further authorization or formality.
- 8.6 The Corporation may acquire, lease, sell, or otherwise dispose of securities, lands, buildings, or other property, or any right or interest therein, for such consideration and upon such terms and conditions as the Board may determine.
- 8.7 The Corporation may invest and may borrow funds upon such terms and conditions as the Board may determine.
- 8.8 All Directors, Officers who are not employed by the Corporation, and members of committees, will serve as such without remuneration and will not directly or indirectly receive any profit from their positions. Directors, Officers who are not employed by the Corporation, and members of Committees may however, be paid reasonable expenses incurred by them in performance of their duties.

SECTION 9. AMENDMENT OF BY-LAWS

- 9.1 Except for the items set out in Section 10, these By-laws may be amended or repealed by Ordinary Resolution of the Directors at a meeting of the Board. The By-law amendment or repeal is effective from the date of the resolution of the Directors. The Board will consult with the Provincial Council prior to amending or repealing any of these By-laws.
- 9.2 Except as provided in the Act, the Board will have the authority to interpret any provision of these By-laws that is contradictory, ambiguous, or unclear, provided such interpretation is consistent with the purposes of the Corporation as set out in the By-laws. The Board will consult with the Provincial Council prior to making any such interpretation.
- 9.3 The Directors will submit the By-law amendment or repeal to the Members at the next meeting of Members, and the Members may, by Ordinary Resolution confirm, reject or amend the By-law amendment or repeal. If the By-law amendment or repeal is confirmed, or confirmed as amended, by the Members, it remains effective in the form in which it was confirmed.
- 9.4 The By-law amendment or repeal ceases to have effect if it is not submitted to the Members as described, or if rejected by the Members.

9.5 Within 12 months of the date of confirmation, the Corporation shall send to Industry Canada a copy of any by-law, amendment or repealed by-law except those that have been rejected by the Members.

SECTION 10. FUNDAMENTAL CHANGES

10.1 According to the Act, a Special Resolution of the Members is required to make the following fundamental changes to the By-laws or By-laws of the Corporation:

- (a) Change in the Corporation's name;
- (b) Change in the province/territory in which the Corporation's Registered Office is situated;
- (c) Add, change or remove any restriction on the activities that the Corporation may carry on;
- (d) Create a new class or group of Members;
- (e) Change a condition required for being a Member;
- (f) Change the designation of any class or group of Members or add, change or remove any rights or conditions of an such class or group;
- (g) Divide any class or group of Members into two or more classes or groups and fix the rights and conditions of each class or group;
- (h) Add, change or remove a provision respecting the transfer of a membership;
- (i) Increase or decrease the number of, or the minimum or maximum number of directors;
- (j) Change the statement of the purpose of the Corporation;
- (k) Change the statement concerning the distribution of property remaining on liquidation after the discharge of any liabilities of the Corporation;
- (l) Change the manner of giving notice to Members entitled to vote at a meeting of Members;
- (m) Change the method of voting by Members not in attendance at a meeting of Members; or
- (n) Add, change or remove any other provision that is permitted by this Act to be set out in the By-laws.

SECTION 11. NOTICE

11.1 In these By-laws, notice will mean written notice which is provide by mail, courier, personal delivery, telephone, electronic or other communication facility to the address of record of the Director or Member filed with the Corporation;

11.2 Date of notice will be:

- (a) The date on which the notice is given by personal delivery;
- (b) One (1) day after the date on which the notice is delivered by telephone, electronic or other communication facility;
- (c) Two (2) days after the date that the notice is couriered; or
- (d) Five (5) days after the date that notice is mailed.

11.3 The accidental omission to give any required notice to any Member, Director, Officer, member of a committee or the Auditor, or the non-receipt of any notice by any such person where the Corporation has provided notice in accordance with the By-laws, or any error in any notice not affecting its substance will not invalidate any action taken at any meeting to which the notice pertained.

SECTION 12. INDEMNIFICATION

12.1 The Corporation will indemnify and hold harmless out of the funds of the Corporation each Director and Officer, their heirs, executors and administrators from and against any and all claims, demands, actions or costs which may arise or be incurred as a result of occupying the position or performing the duties of a Director or Officer or any other person for acts of fraud, dishonesty, or bad faith.

~~SECTION 13.~~ SECTION 13. EFFECTIVE DATE

CERTIFIED to be By-laws of the Corporation, as approved by the directors of the Corporation by resolution on the 21ST day of August 2023 and to be ratified by the members of the Corporation by special resolution on the 25th day of October 2023 and to be effective the 1st day of January 2024.

Commented [KM14]: Updated to reflect the date these new bylaws would be passed, ratified and effective.

~~CERTIFIED to be By-laws of the Corporation, as approved by the directors of the Corporation by resolution on the 21ST day of August 2023 and to be ratified by the members of the Corporation by special resolution on the 25th day of October 2023 and to be effective the 1st day of January 2024.~~

Dated as of the 24th day of August ~~March~~, 20203



Hugh McGugan, Chair



Don Adams, CEO